2008

# Utah v. Christina Lynn Briggs : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

#### **JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS**

This is an appeal from a finding of guilt by a jury for Aggravated Robbery, a first-degree felony, and Aggravated Kidnapping, a first-degree felony. The Defendant was found guilty on March 21, 2008. She was sentenced on May 27, 2008, to a term of five years to life in the Utah State Prison on the aggravated robbery charge and fifteen (15) years to life in the Utah State Prison on the aggravated kidnapping charge, to run concurrent with one another. The Defendant is currently serving her sentence in the Utah State Prison. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to U.C.A. §§78A-3-102(4) and 78A-4-103.

## **ISSUE ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

### **POINT I**

**WAS THE DEFENDANT DENIED HER RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS SEVEN AND TWELVE OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION BY HER ATTORNEY'S FAILURE TO MOVE THE TRIAL COURT FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT?**

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** The appellate court must determine as a matter of fact and law whether the Defendant was denied her right to effective assistance of counsel. In *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), the United States Supreme Court articulated a two-part test, which was adopted in *State v. Templin*, 805 P.2d 182 (Utah 1990), to determine whether counsel was ineffective. The Court held that;

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. *Id.* at 466 U.S. at 687, 80 L.Ed. 2d at 693.

### **POINT II**

**DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT PLAIN ERROR IN FAILING TO ENTER A DIRECTED VERDICT OR ACQUITTAL AT THE CLOSE OF THE PROSECUTION'S CASE FOR THE REASONS THAT THERE WAS**



## **INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION?**

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** This Court should use a question of law standard of review. “We reverse the jury’s verdict in a criminal case when we conclude as a matter of law that the evidence was insufficient to warrant conviction.” *State v. Smith*, 927 P.2d 649, 651 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). Furthermore, this Court should review the evidence “in a light most favorable to the jury verdict,” *State v. Bradley*, 752 P.2d 874, 876 (Utah 1985). Since Defendant’s attorney didn’t move for a directed verdict, it should be reviewed under a plain error standard of review. “[T]o establish the existence of plain error and to obtain appellate relief from an alleged error that was not properly objected to, the appellant must show the following: (i) an error exists, (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful, i.e., absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for the appellant . . .” *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1208 (Utah 1993).

## **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES**

### **UTAH STATUTES**

#### **U.C.A §76-6-301. Robbery.**

- (1) A person commits robbery if:
  - (a) the person unlawfully and intentionally takes or attempts to take personal property in the possession of another from his person, or immediate

presence, against his will, by means of force or fear, and with a purpose or intent to deprive the person permanently or temporarily of the personal property; or

(b) the person intentionally or knowingly uses force or fear of immediate force against another in the course of committing a theft or wrongful appropriation.

(2) An act is considered to be “in the course of committing a theft or wrongful appropriation” if it occurs:

(a) in the course of an attempt to commit theft or wrongful appropriation;

(b) in the commission of theft or wrongful appropriation; or

(c) in the immediate flight after the attempt or commission.

(3) Robbery is a felony of the second degree.

### **U.C.A. §76-6-302. Aggravated Robbery.**

(1) A person commits aggravated robbery if in the course of committing robbery, he:

(a) uses or threatens to use a dangerous weapon as defined in Section 76-1-601;

(b) causes serious bodily injury upon another; or

(c) takes or attempts to take an operable motor vehicle.

(2) Aggravated robbery is a first degree felony.

(3) For the purposes of this part, an act shall be considered to be “in the course of committing a robbery” if it occurs in an attempt to commit, during the commission of, or in the immediate flight after the attempt or commission of a robbery.

### **U.C.A. §76-5-301. Kidnapping.**

(1) An actor commits kidnapping if the actor intentionally or knowingly, without authority of law, and against the will of the victim:

(a) detains or restrains the victim for any substantial period of time;

(b) detains or restrains the victim in circumstances exposing the victim to risk of bodily injury;

(c) holds the victim in involuntary servitude;

(d) detains or restrains a minor without the consent of the minor’s parent or legal guardian or the consent of a person acting in loco parentis, if the minor is 14 years of age or older but younger than 18 years of age; or

(e) moves the victim any substantial distance or across a state line.

(2) As used in this section, acting “against the will of the victim” includes acting without the consent of the legal guardian or custodian of a victim who is a mentally incompetent person.

(3) Kidnapping is a second degree felony.

**U.C.A §76-5-302. Aggravated Kidnapping.**

(1) A person commits aggravated kidnapping if the actor, in the course of committing unlawful detention or kidnapping:

(a) possesses, uses, or threatens to use a dangerous weapon as defined in Section 76-1-601; or

(b) acts with intent:

(i) to hold the victim for ransom or reward, or as a shield or hostage, or to compel a third person to engage in particular conduct or to forbear from engaging in particular conduct;

(ii) to facilitate the commission, attempted commission, or flight after commission or attempted commission of a felony;

(iii) to hinder or delay the discovery of or reporting of a felony; or

(iv) to inflict bodily injury on or to terrorize the victim or another;

(v) to interfere with the performance of any governmental or political function; or

(vi) to commit a sexual offense as described in Title 76, Chapter 5, Part 4, Sexual Offenses.

(2) As used in this section, “in the course of committing unlawful detention or kidnapping” means in the course of committing, attempting to commit, or in the immediate flight after the attempt or commission of a violation of:

(a) Section 76-5-301, kidnapping; or

(b) Section 76-5-304, unlawful detention.

(3) Aggravated kidnapping is a first degree felony punishable by a term of imprisonment of:

(a) except as provided in Subsection (3)(b), (3)(c), or (4), not less than 15 years and which may be for life;

(b) except as provided in Subsection (3)(c) or (4), life without parole, if the trier of fact finds that during the course of the commission of the aggravated kidnapping the defendant caused serious bodily injury to another; or

(c) life without parole, if the trier of fact finds that at the time of the commission of the aggravated kidnapping, the defendant was previously convicted of a grievous sexual offense.

(4) If, when imposing a sentence under Subsection (3)(a) or (b), a court finds that a lesser term than the term described in Subsection (3)(a) or (b) is in the best interests of justice and states the reasons for this finding on the record, the court may impose a term of imprisonment of not less than:

(a) for purposes of Subsection (3)(b), 15 years and which may be for life; or

(b) for purposes of Subsection (3)(a) or (b):

(i) ten years and which may be for life; or

(ii) six years and which may be for life.

(5) The provisions of Subsection (4) do not apply when a person is sentenced under Subsection (3)(c).

### **§78A-3-102. Supreme Court jurisdiction.**

(4) The Supreme Court may transfer to the Court of Appeals any of the matters over which the Supreme Court has original appellate jurisdiction, except:

(a) capital felony convictions or an appeal of an interlocutory order of a court of record involving a charge of a capital felony;

(b) election and voting contests;

(c) reapportionment of election districts;

(d) retention or removal of public officers;

(e) matters involving legislative subpoenas; and

(f) those matters described in Subsections (3)(a) through (d).

### **78A-4-103. Court of Appeals jurisdiction.**

(1) The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to issue all extraordinary writs and to issue all writs and process necessary:

(a) to carry into effect its judgments, orders, and decrees; or

(b) in aid of its jurisdiction.

(2) The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of interlocutory appeals, over:

(a) the final orders and decrees resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings of state agencies or appeals from the district court review of informal adjudicative proceedings of the agencies, except the Public Service Commission, State Tax Commission, School and Institutional Trust Lands Board of Trustees, Division of Forestry, Fire and State Lands actions reviewed by the executive director of the

Department of Natural Resources, Board of Oil, Gas, and Mining, and the state engineer;

- (b) Appeals from the district court review of:
    - (i) adjudicative proceedings of agencies of political subdivisions of the state or other local agencies; and
    - (ii) a challenge to agency action under Section **63G-3-602**;
  - (c) appeals from the juvenile courts;
  - (d) interlocutory appeals from any court of record in criminal cases, except those involving a charge of a first degree or capital felony;
  - (e) appeals from a court of record in criminal cases, except those involving a conviction or charge of a first degree felony or capital felony;
  - (f) appeals from orders on petitions for extraordinary writs sought by persons who are incarcerated or serving any other criminal sentence, except petitions constituting a challenge to a conviction of or the sentence for a first degree or capital felony.
  - (g) appeals from the orders on petitions for extraordinary writs challenging the decisions of the Board of Pardons and Parole except in cases involving a first degree or capital felony;
  - (h) appeals from district court involving domestic relations cases, including, but not limited to, divorce, annulment, property division, child custody, support, parent-time, visitation, adoption, and paternity;
  - (i) appeals from the Utah Military Court; and
  - (j) cases transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court.
- (3) The Court of Appeals upon its own motion only and by the vote of four judges of the court may certify to the Supreme Court for original appellate review and determination any matter over which the Court of Appeals has original appellate jurisdiction.
  - (4) The Court of Appeals shall comply with the requirements of Title 63G, Chapter 4, Administrative Procedures Act, in its review of agency adjudicative proceedings

## **UTAH CONSTITUTION**

### **Article I, Section 7. [Due process of law.]**

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

## **Article I, Section 12. [Rights of accused persons.]**

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf, to be confronted by the witnesses against him, to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district in which the offense is alleged to have been committed, and the right to appeal in all cases. In no instance shall any accused person, before final judgment, be compelled to advance money or fees to secure the rights herein guaranteed. The accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself; a wife shall not be compelled to testify against her husband, nor a husband against his wife, nor shall any person be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.

Where the defendant is otherwise entitled to a preliminary examination, the function of that examination is limited to determining whether probable cause exists unless otherwise provided by statute. Nothing in this constitution shall preclude the use of reliable hearsay evidence as defined by statute or rule in whole or in part at any preliminary examination to determine probable cause or at any pretrial proceeding with respect to release of the defendant if appropriate discovery is allowed as defined by statute or rule.

## **UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION**

### **Fourth Amendment**

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

### **Sixth Amendment**

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him;

to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.

#### **Fourteenth Amendment**

Section. 1. All persons born or naturalized in the United States and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Section. 2. Representatives shall be apportioned among the several States according to their respective numbers, counting the whole number of persons in each State, excluding Indians not taxed. But when the right to vote at any election for the choice of electors for President and Vice President of the United States, Representatives in Congress, the Executive and Judicial officers of a State, or the members of the Legislature thereof, is denied to any of the male inhabitants of such State, being twenty-one years of age, and citizens of the United States, or in any way abridged, except for participation in rebellion, or other crime, the basis of representation therein shall be reduced in the proportion which the number of such male citizens shall bear to the whole number of male citizens twenty-one years of age in such State.

Section. 3. No person shall be a Senator or Representative in Congress, or elector of President and Vice President, or hold any office, civil or military, under the United States, or under any State, who, having previously taken an oath, as a member of Congress, or as an officer of the United States, or as a member of any State legislature, or as an executive or judicial officer of any State, to support the Constitution of the United States, shall have engaged in insurrection or rebellion against the same, or given aid or comfort to the enemies thereof. But Congress may by a vote of two-thirds of each House, remove such disability.

Section. 4. The validity of the public debt of the United States, authorized by law, including debts incurred for payment of pensions and bounties for services in suppressing insurrection or rebellion, shall not be questioned. But neither the United States nor any State shall assume or pay any debt or obligation incurred in aid of insurrection or rebellion against the United States, or any claim for the loss or emancipation of

any slave; but all such debts, obligations and claims shall be held illegal and void.

Section. 5. The Congress shall have power to enforce, by appropriate legislation, the provisions of this article.

## **UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE**

### **RULE 17(P)**

At the conclusion of the evidence by the prosecution, or at the conclusion of all the evidence, the court may issue an order dismissing any information or indictment, or any count thereof, upon the ground that the evidence is not legally sufficient to establish the offense charged therein or any lesser included offense.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Defendant was charged by Information with two separate offenses. A jury found her guilty of counts one and two, aggravated robbery in violation of U.C.A. §76-6-302 and aggravated kidnapping in violation of §76-5-302. (R. 135/ P. 208).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On September 8, 2007, the Defendant, Christina Lynn Briggs, accompanied Brandon Morris to the Timbermine restaurant where she was scheduled to meet up with John Barlow. (R.134/P. 146-47, 171, 209). When they met John Barlow, Defendant said that “her cousin” needed a ride up the canyon. (R. 134/P. 147, 172). Mr. Barlow suggested taking his work van rather than Defendant’s car. (R.134/P. 147, 174). When Mr. Barlow started



climbing into his van, Mr. Morris grabbed his left shoulder, and Mr. Barlow felt a sharp object in his back. (R. 134/P. 147, 174). Mr. Morris made Mr. Barlow sit in a steel chair between the two bucket seats, climbed into the driver's seat and leaned over Mr. Barlow to unlock the passenger door for Defendant. (R. 134/P. 147-48, 175-76, 205-06). Mr. Morris took Mr. Barlow's keys and wallet, and Defendant took his cell phone. (R.134/P. 148, 176).

Mr. Morris drove the van up Ogden Canyon and around the dam while holding the knife to Mr. Barlow's left side. (R.134/P. 148, 178, 210). Defendant bound Mr. Barlow's hands with a hoodie string. (R.134/P. 185). When they reach 9500 East and SR-39, Defendant threw Mr. Barlow's cell phone out the window. (R.134/P.149, 181, 210). Mr. Morris continued driving past the Red Rock Café until he turned up a dirt road at approximately mile marker 33.2 on SR-39. (R.134/P. 149, 183). Mr. Morris and Defendant drove up that road about 100 yards, parked, and told Mr. Barlow to get out of the car, then made him walk out into the woods about 20 yards. (R.134/P.149, 183, 211). Mr. Morris and Defendant then tied Mr. Barlow to a tree using a hoodie string and soldering wire. (R.134/P. 149-50, 185, 211). Mr. Morris and Defendant then left Mr. Barlow tied to a tree. (R. 134/P. 187).

Defendant and Mr. Morris got back in the van and left. (R. 134/P. 187-88). Mr. Morris drove off fast and hit a big boulder that was partially buried in the path. The boulder was ripped from the ground by the force and dragged about 40 feet. (R. 134/P. 213). The undercarriage of the van was severely damaged by the collision with the rock. (R. 134/P. 150, 189, 191). Mr. Morris and Defendant then turned back onto the main road but only made it about 200 yards before the driveline snapped and the van broke down. (R. 134/P.150, 189, 191). The van left a trail of transmission fluid beginning at the dislodged boulder continuing to where the van became disabled on the road. (R. 134/P. 213). Mr. Barlow got himself untied and ran out to the road just in time to see Mr. Morris and Defendant get into a white truck. (R. 134/P. 151, 188-190).

Defendant and Mr. Morris went to the Red Rock Café where they were picked up by Steve Stefaniak and Jeanine Walton. (R. 134/P. 152-53; R. 135/P. 21). They then accompanied Steve and Jeanine to a campsite where they partied and drank. (R. 135/P. 23; R. 135/P. 33-34, 49). They planned to stay overnight at the campsite with Steven and Jeanine until Mr. Morris realized he needed his insulin. (R. 134/P. 153; R. 135/P. 42-43). Jeanine drove them to the Timbermine in an orange pickup where she intended to drop them off at Defendant's car until Defendant spotted an undercover cop and told Jeanine not to stop. (R. 134/P. 153; R. 135/P. 25). Jeanine dropped them off

somewhere on Monroe, then went back up to the campsite and made arrangements to meet them the next day. (R. 134/P. 153-54; P. 135/P. 26-27).

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