2008

Utah v. Christina Lynn Briggs : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Finally, even had the evidence been insufficient to show that Defendant committed these crimes as a principal, it sufficed to show that she intentionally

encouraged and aided Morris in committing the crimes and therefore to support her conviction as an accomplice to aggravated robbery and aggravated kidnapping.

Because the evidence sufficed, the trial court did not plainly err by not *sua sponte* entering a directed verdict at the close of the State's evidence. Moreover, because the evidence sufficed, defense counsel was not ineffective for not moving for a directed verdict.

ARGUMENT

This Court has already held that the evidence in this case sufficed to support Morris's convictions for aggravated robbery and aggravated kidnapping, rejecting Morris's plain error and ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Defendant, raising the same claims as Morris did, does not acknowledge this Court's decision in *Morris*, 2009 UT App 174U, or reference any evidence that might distinguish her culpability from that of Morris. As this Court rejected the claims in Morris's appeal, it should reject them here.

I.

BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE SUFFICED TO SUPPORT DEFENDANT'S CONVICTIONS, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR, LET ALONE PLAINLY ERR, WHEN IT DID NOT *SUA SPONTE* ENTER A DIRECTED VERDICT

Defendant claims that that the trial court committed plain error when it failed to *sua sponte* "enter a directed verdict of acquittal at the close of the prosecution's case for reasons that there was insufficient evidence to support a conviction." Br.

Appellant at 24 (boldface and capitalization omitted). Defendant cannot prevail on her plain error claim because she has not shown that the evidence was insufficient to support the convictions.

Relevant law. When reviewing any challenge to a trial court's denial of a motion for directed verdict, the appellate court reviews "the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may fairly be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party moved against." *State v. Jensen*, 2004 UT App 467, ¶ 7, 105 P.3d 951 (quotation and citation omitted). The Court then "appl[ies] the same standard used when reviewing a jury verdict." *State v. Hamilton*, 2003 UT 22, ¶ 41, 70 P.3d 111. The trial court's decision will be affirmed if "'some evidence exists from which a reasonable jury could find that the elements of the crime had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.'" *State v. Montoya*, 2004 UT 5, ¶ 29, 84 P.3d 1183 (citation omitted).

Where no motion for directed verdict is made, but the claim is that the trial court plainly erred for not *sua sponte* directing a verdict, an appellant must show "'first that the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction of the crime[s] charged and second that the insufficiency was so obvious and fundamental that the trial court erred in submitting the case to the jury.'" *State v. Diaz*, 2002 UT App 288, ¶ 32, 55 P.3d 1131 (quoting *State v. Holgate*, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 17, 10 P.3d 346).

- A. In its case-in-chief, the State presented evidence from which a reasonable jury could find that the elements of aggravated robbery had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.**

Elements of robbery and aggravated robbery. To prove robbery, the State must prove that a defendant “unlawfully and intentionally takes or attempts to take personal property in the possession of another from his person, or immediate presence, against his will, by means of force or fear, and with a purpose or intent to deprive the person permanently or temporarily of the personal property.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-301.³

³ Alternatively, a person commits robbery if “the person intentionally or knowingly uses force or fear of immediate force against another in the course of committing a theft or wrongful appropriation.” *Id.* An act is “in the course of committing a theft or wrongful appropriation” if it occurs “in the course of an attempt to commit theft or wrongful appropriation,” “in the commission of theft or wrongful appropriation,” or “in the immediate flight after the attempt or commission.” *Id.*

The State also presented evidence from which the jury could reasonably have found Defendant guilty of both robbery and aggravated robbery under this definition. Defendant wrongfully appropriated cell phone. *See* R134:176. She also wrongfully appropriated Barlow’s van. *See* R134:175-78, 180. Defendant intentionally or knowingly used force or fear in the course of committing the wrongful appropriations and in the immediate flight after committing the wrongful appropriation. *See* R134:175-80. She brandished a pipe wrench, took and threw out Barlow’s cell phone, tied Barlow’s hands, and threatened him. *See* R134:176-77, 180-81, 185.

To prove aggravated robbery, the State must, in addition, prove that in the course of committing the robbery the person “uses or threatens to use a dangerous weapon” or “causes serious bodily injury upon another” or “takes or attempts to take an operable motor vehicle.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-302. A “dangerous weapon” is “any item capable of causing death or serious bodily injury.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-601.

Evidence presented. Here, the State presented evidence from which a reasonable jury could find that the elements of robbery had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The State presented evidence to meet these elements primarily through the testimony of the victim, Barlow. Barlow testified that Defendant took the cell phone from him. R134:176-77. He also testified that Morris took his key and wallet. R134:176. He testified that Morris used a knife, that Defendant held a pipe wrench, and that they both threatened him during the incident. R134:176-77. Moreover, while Morris drove, Defendant facilitated the robbery by tying Barlow’s hands and throwing away the cell phone he might have used to get help. R134:185.

This evidence sufficed to support a finding that Defendant intentionally took personal property from Barlow against his will by means of force or fear and with intent to deprive Barlow permanently or temporarily of this property. It is evidence sufficient to prove robbery.

The State also presented evidence from which a reasonable jury could find that Defendant committed *aggravated* robbery. Barlow testified that Defendant held a pipe wrench during the incident and that Morris held a knife during the entire trip. R134:175-85. As explained, Morris used the knife to force Barlow into the van, where Barlow was isolated from any passers-by and where Morris could demand the wallet and keys. *See* R134:174-76. Moreover, Morris and Defendant used the van to get away after the robbery had been committed. R134:175-76, 185, 187-88. This is evidence that Defendant used or threatened the use of a dangerous weapon and that she took an operable vehicle during the robbery. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-302.

B. In its case-in-chief, the State presented evidence from which a reasonable jury could find that the elements of aggravated kidnapping had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Elements of kidnapping and aggravated kidnapping. To prove kidnapping, the State must prove that an “actor intentionally or knowingly, without authority of law, and against the will of the victim ... detains or restrains the victim for any substantial period of time” or “detains or restrains the victim in circumstances exposing the victim to risk of bodily injury” or “moves the victim any substantial distance.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-301. To prove aggravated kidnapping, the State must, in addition, prove that the actor “possesses, uses, or threatens to use a dangerous weapon” or “acts with intent to facilitate the commission, attempted

commission, or flight after commission or attempted commission of a felony” or “to hinder or delay the discovery of or reporting of a felony” or “to inflict bodily injury on or to terrorize the victim.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-302; *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-601.

Evidence presented. Here, the State presented evidence from which a reasonable jury could find that the elements of kidnapping had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Again, the State presented evidence to meet these elements primarily through the Barlow’s testimony. Barlow testified that Defendant and Morris forced him into his van at knifepoint. RR134:175-77. Barlow also testified that Defendant tied his hands together while Morris held him at knife-point. R134:185-86. Barlow further testified that Defendant and Morris transported him from the restaurant at the mouth of Ogden Canyon where they first met, R134:169-71, through Ogden Canyon, R134:177, and past the Huntsville area, R134:181-82. While traveling, Morris kept the knife pressed to Barlow’s back. R134:178-79. Once they reached the area of mile-marker 33.2, Morris ordered Barlow from the vehicle and used soldering wire to tie him to a tree some distance off the main road and out of sight. R134:183-87.

During the trip, Defendant continued to threaten Barlow. R134:80. She also called Morris “Sarge,” assisting in the ruse that Morris was acting in a law enforcement capacity. R134:177-78. Further, Defendant threw out Barlow’s cell

phone, making it more difficult for him to get help and thus facilitating both the unlawful detention and the flight afterward. R134:81.

This evidence presented during the State's case-in-chief shows that Morris and Defendant "intentionally or knowingly, without authority of law, and against the will of the victim ... detain[ed] or restrain[ed] the victim for [a] substantial period of time" or "detain[ed] or restrain[ed] the victim in circumstances exposing the victim to risk of bodily injury." Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-301. Moreover, these acts were "not ... slight, inconsequential[,] and merely incidental" to the robbery, were not inherent in the nature of the robbery, and had "some significance independent of" the robbery in that they made the robbery "substantially easier of commission" and "substantially lessen[ed] the risk of detection." *State v. Finlayson*, 2000 UT 10, ¶ 19, 994 P.2d 1243; *cf. State v. Lee*, 2006 UT 5, ¶ 34, 128 P.3d 1179 (dragging victim across the highway sufficient to support kidnapping charge). Consequently, the State met its burden to provide evidence for each element of the crime of kidnapping.

In addition, the State presented evidence sufficient to prove *aggravated* kidnapping. The State presented evidence to show that in the course of committing the kidnapping Morris possessed and used a knife, a dangerous weapon; that Defendant possessed and used a pipe wrench, also a dangerous weapon; and that Defendant and Morris committed the kidnapping with the intent to facilitate the

commission of a robbery and flight after the commission of the robbery. R134:175-86; *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-302. Thus the evidence sufficed to support defendant's conviction of aggravated kidnapping.

C. The evidence was also sufficient to show that Defendant was guilty as an accomplice.

Finally, even assuming the evidence was not sufficient to show that Defendant acted as a principal in committing the aggravated robbery or the aggravated kidnapping, the evidence sufficed to show that she intentionally aided Morris in the commission of these offenses. "Every person acting with the mental state required for the commission of an offense who directly commits the offense, who solicits, requests, commands, encourages, or intentionally aids another person to engage in conduct which constitutes an offense shall be criminally liable as a party for such conduct." Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-202 (West 2004).

Here, as this Court has already found, the evidence sufficed to support Morris's convictions for aggravated robbery and aggravated kidnapping. *See Morris*, 2009 UT App 174U. The evidence also sufficed to show that Defendant encouraged and aided Morris in committing those two crimes. Defendant arranged for the meeting and the meeting location. *See* R134:167-69. Defendant introduced Morris to Barlow, saying that Morris was her cousin. R134:171-72. After Morris, holding a knife to Barlow, forced him into the vehicle, Defendant held up a pipe wrench, another means to instill fear of force. *See* R134:175-77. Defendant

threatened Barlow during the incident. R134:180. Defendant referred to Morris as “Sarge,” thereby joining in Morris’s ruse that he was a law enforcement officer. R134:176-78. After Morris took Barlow’s wallet and keys, Defendant took Barlow’s cell phone, depriving him of it and making it harder for him to get help or report the ongoing crime. R134:176-77.

This evidence also sufficed to show that Defendant acted with the mental state required for aggravated robbery and aggravated kidnapping—i.e., that she acted intentionally. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-301 & 302. Specifically, the evidence showed that Defendant knew that Morris was taking Barlow’s property and transporting him against his will and that, knowing this, she intentionally aided Morris.

Thus, the evidence also sufficed to support Defendant’s conviction as an accomplice.

D. Defendant’s insufficiency claims are without support.

In challenging the sufficiency of this evidence, Defendant raises the same arguments rejected by this Court in Morris’s appeal. *Compare* Br. Appellant at 21-23 *with Morris*, 2009 UT App 174U, ¶ 4. Defendant claims that the evidence was insufficient to prove robbery because no wallet was found. Br. Appellant at 21. But Barlow testified that Morris took the wallet from him at knifepoint and that Defendant was brandishing a pipe wrench while he did so. R134:175-77. That

testimony sufficed to show aggravated robbery. It was not, therefore, necessary to show that the investigators recovered the knife, the pipe wrench, or the wallet.

Defendant also claims that the State failed to prove that she took an operable vehicle because Barlow volunteered to drive up the canyon. Br. Appellant at 21. Barlow testified that he volunteered to drive up the canyon, but that before he could voluntarily begin the drive, Morris pressed a knife against his back, forced him into a folding chair inside the van, and took control of the car, driving it to the woods where he tied Barlow to the tree and then drove away. R134:174-76, 181, 185-88. That testimony sufficed to show aggravated robbery. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-302. Morris, by using his knife, and Defendant, by using the pipe wrench, prevented the voluntary drive Barlow had proposed and took Barlow's operable vehicle from him. That also sufficed to show aggravated robbery. *See id.*

Defendant further claims that the evidence was insufficient to prove kidnapping or aggravated kidnapping. Br. Appellant at 24. First, she claims that the State did not show that Barlow was detained for any substantial period of time or transported any substantial distance or that the circumstances exposed Barlow to any risk of bodily injury. *Id.* But Barlow testified that Morris and Defendant took him from the mouth of Ogden Canyon to Huntsville and beyond. R134:177-85. Barlow also testified that Morris left him tied to a tree, alone in the woods. R134:185. This testimony sufficed to prove that Morris and Defendant detained

Barlow for a substantial period of time, moved him a substantial distance, and restrained him in circumstances exposing him to the risk of bodily injury. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-301. Moreover, this was evidence of time and distance that was more than “slight, inconsequential[,] and merely incidental to” the robbery and thus sufficient to show kidnapping. *See Finlayson*, 2000 UT 10, ¶ 23.

Defendant also claims that “Barlow volunteered the use of his vehicle and voluntarily entered the vehicle for the drive,” and that the State failed to prove that she used a dangerous weapon. Br. Appellant at 23. But, as explained, Barlow testified that while he had offered to drive the group in his van, Morris pressed a knife into his back as he began to enter the van and threatened him with that knife, and Defendant simultaneously threatened him with a pipe wrench. R134:175-76. Barlow also testified that Morris took his keys and wallet, Defendant took his phone, and Morris and Defendant commandeered the van. R134:175-77. That sufficed to show that Barlow was transported against his will and that Morris and Defendant each used or threatened to use a dangerous weapon in the course of committing the kidnapping. It also sufficed to show that Morris and Defendant kidnapped him with the intent to facilitate the commission of and flight after the commission of the robbery. It thus sufficed to support Defendant’s conviction for aggravated kidnapping. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-302.

E. Because the evidence sufficed, Defendant has not shown that the trial court erred, let alone plainly erred, by not *sua sponte* entering a directed verdict.

Defendant cannot prevail on her plain error claim. Defendant has not shown that the evidence was insufficient to support her convictions, let alone “that the insufficiency was so obvious and fundamental that the trial court erred in submitting the case to the jury.” *Diaz*, 2002 UT App 288, ¶ 32 (quotation and citation omitted).

II.

BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE SUFFICED TO SUPPORT DEFENDANT’S CONVICTIONS, DEFENSE COUNSEL DID NOT PERFORM INEFFECTIVELY FOR NOT REQUESTING A DIRECTED VERDICT

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